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The past year saw a wave of upheavals.  
As COVID-19 swept across the globe, many 
changes were abound: international art fairs 
and festivals were cancelled or postponed; 
exhibitions, activities and residencies dwindled as 
borders closed; and everything had to be digital.
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In spite of this, STPI took the changes in stride 
and seized the opportunity to adapt and innovate. 
Working around the limitations imposed by the 
pandemic, the team continued to explore new 
ways of reaching out to our community in spite  
of the circumstances. 
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We worked with 12 artists for our Visiting Artists 
Programme in our Creative Workshop, held no less 
than 6 exhibitions in our gallery, participated in 7 
art fairs, and welcomed 867 visitors to our annual 
Open House. Other significant highlights include 
moving from a gala dinner to intimate, artist-
led activities for our annual fundraiser, hosting 
S.E.A. Focus both online and offline to provide our 
audiences with an enriching experience wherever 
they are in the world, and introducing our Digital 
Activity Guide newsletter to bring print and 
papermaking into people’s homes. 
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This period provided many valuable lessons for 
us to bring forward as we continue to navigate 
a distinctly different world. The need to adapt 
opened up new opportunities and possibilities 
for STPI, and we look forward to continuing 
our journey of promoting innovative artistic 
experimentations in the year ahead.
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Charles Lim, SEA STATE 8: The Grid (detail), 2014 - 2021
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Jane Lee, Trust (detail), 2019

Mission

STPI seeks to develop Singapore as 
a leading player in the contemporary 
art world by collaborating with top 
international artists in unique, ground-
breaking projects. Through its artist 
collaborations, artworks, exhibitions 
and public programmes, STPI engages 
both international and local art 
communities, with the aim of inspiring 
and developing an appreciation of print 
and paper art practice.

Vision

STPI is a global leader in contemporary 
art practice with print and paper, 
creating unique and quality artworks in 
collaboration with leading artists from 
around the world.

STPI Creative Workshop & Gallery Annual Report 2020/ 2021
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Core Values 

CREATIVE & 
DIVERSE

COLLABORATIVE  
& NURTURING

BOLD & 
DYNAMIC
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Chair’s Foreword

“Start by doing what’s necessary; 
then do what’s possible; and suddenly 
you’re doing the impossible.” 

– Francis of Assisi

For me, this quote from Francis of Assisi best sums up STPI’s 
response to this difficult year, where everything (individuals, 
organisations, industries, governments) has been shaken. It 
also represents our aspirations for the future – to achieve 
what seems impossible today.

While we cannot change the adverse circumstances that we 
find ourselves in, it is our response to the challenges thrusted 
upon us that testifies to the core character of STPI: Resilient, 
Creative and a Community Spirit. 

With international travel grinding to a halt and restrictions 
on working on-site, our Creative Workshop team had to 
come up with ingenious ways of engaging with overseas 
artists to complete existing and new works. This called for 
adaptability, creativity and a can-do spirit from our team 
and the wonderful artists that we have collaborated with. 

15
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I am therefore heartened to note the many international 
residencies that have taken place remotely this year, such 
as with British artist Janice Kerbel, Korean artist Lee Bul and 
Indian artist Prabhavathi Meppayil. On the other hand, the 
disruption to our usual programming paved the way for us to 
enhance our existing ties with local artists, and we welcomed 
many established Singaporean practitioners like Charles Lim, 
Adeline Kueh and Ian Woo into our workshop. Thus, our team 
inventively circumvented the disruptions to work with no less 
than 12 artists the past year.

While most art fairs in the world pivoted to a purely digital 
format, against all odds, our team staged S.E.A. Focus 2021 
in January 2021 and successfully brought together 27 leading 
local and international galleries together to present a total of 
99 works shipped over for the physical S.E.A. Focus Curated. 
On the other hand, S.E.A. Focus Digital continued to foster 
exchanges virtually through an online fair platform with 228 
artworks as well robust programming so as to stay connected 
to our peers around the globe. The exuberance of the visitors 
to the physical fair, and the phenomenal participation in our 
virtual offerings where we received over 10,000 visitors, was 
a great reward for the hard work and tenacity of the team. We 
will faithfully continue to build on S.E.A. Focus as a rallying 
platform for our vibrant regional art landscape as we forge 
ahead in a markedly altered present. 

We are also grateful for the opportunity to do our small part 
for the wider community. Under the campaign title of Art for 
our Nation, STPI and One Dream partnered with renowned 
Singaporean artist Russel Wong to create a total of 49 print 
works that centred on our national flower, the orchid, as a 
symbol of love, beauty, perseverance and strength. These 
prints were gifted to the National Centre for Infectious Diseases 
as well as the Family Services Centres across Singapore. In 
a time where the constant influx of disheartening headlines 
can get too much, we hope that the gesture provided a timely 
reminder of art’s propensity for being an uplifting force.
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Susan Kong 
Chairman, STPI 
 

Not only did we survive the challenges, but with the solid 
support of our stakeholders (MCCY, NAC), Friends of STPI, 
clients, artists and other members of the art community 
(both locally and internationally), we have also harnessed the 
opportunities to start building the foundations for a sustained 
contribution to the art ecosystem in the future, in anticipation 
of a “new normal”. To this end, we are strengthening the 
pillars of our organisational structures through introducing 
key positions into the STPI team, boosting our bench 
strength, and embarking on a Digitalisation Plan to better 
equip ourselves for the digital landscape among others. 
And through instances such as more locally focused on-site 
residencies and BIOME (a new facet of our Fundraiser where 
we invite local practitioners to create artist-led encounters 
around STPI’s building), we are excited to build more sustained 
relationships and mutual understandings between STPI and 
the local art community.

On the corporate front, we have increased our strength 
diversity with the addition of three new members to our Board: 
Mr. Sam Kok Weng, Mr. Tan Chuan Yong and Mr. Nathaniel 
Gunawan. With their wealth of experience and their love for 
the arts, I am confident that they will all contribute greatly to 
furthering the STPI legacy.

I would like to wholeheartedly thank each and every member 
of the STPI community including our staff, Friends of STPI, 
our generous donors, our various collaborative partners, our 
stakeholders, MCCY and NAC, and my board members. It is 
with your enormous support and efforts that we have been 
able to thrive in the past year. I look forward to working with 
all of you to achieve greater success for STPI.

One Dream, Minister Masagos with the STPI Workshop team
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Executive  
Director’s Message

2020 was an extraordinary year for all. No doubt, it will be 
remembered as a year of uncertainties and adjustments as we all 
adapted again and again to the swiftly changing circumstances. 
Reflecting on the past year, I am greatly encouraged by the 
tremendous effort that our team has put in to ensure that STPI 
stayed atop of the massively unprecedented state of affairs.

Pivoting towards innovative methods to circumvent the various 
pandemic-related restrictions, new life was breathed into our 
activities such as our annual Fundraiser. In lieu of our lively 
gala dinners, we invited local artists, such as Yanyun Chen, 
Ruben Pang and Khairullah Rahim, to create intimate and 
immersive experiences in STPI’s premises. At the height of the 
physical restrictions, our team continued to inventively engage 
our audience virtually: our Digital Activity Guides brought 
family-friendly, do-it-yourself print and papermaking projects 
into people’s homes; our A Letter from the Artist had past 
residency artists like Entang Wiharso and Melati Suryodarmo 
pen their experiences of the pandemic for sharing with our 
Friends of STPI; our Let’s Chat series which featured artists 
Suzann Victor, Dinh Q. Lê and more brought a welcomed 
respite to the constant barrage of somber news; S.E.A. Focus 
saw the twinned offering of a curated physical fair, and an 
online activation supplemented with digital talks and tours by 
key members of the Southeast Asian art community. 
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Emi Eu 
Executive Director, STPI 

Beyond that, the closure of borders gave us a golden 
opportunity to sharpen our focus on the local art scene. While 
remote residencies continued for our international artists, we 
continued with our bread-and-butter on-site residencies with 
respectable Singaporean practitioners such as Charles Lim, 
Heman Chong, Russel Wong, Jane Lee, Ian Woo and Adeline 
Kueh. Our Annual Special Exhibition also keenly zoned in on 
esteemed Cultural Medallion winners, highlighting the much-
celebrated practices of Amanda Heng, Han Sai Por and Goh 
Beng Kwan, among others. Very excitingly, we also ventured 
towards working more closely with guest curators, like Guo-
Liang Tan for Strange Forms of Life as part of the Proposals 
for Novel ways of being initiative, and Siuli Tan for Turning 
the Axis of the World. These instances of collaborations have 
all impelled a greater intertwining of STPI with our very 
talented and diverse group of arts practitioners and workers 
in Singapore.

Coming out of this tumultuous year steadier and more assured 
would not have been possible without the generous support 
and guidance of our Board and MCCY, nor would it have been 
achievable without the resilience and resourcefulness of the 
STPI family. While we continue navigate the uncertainties of 
the future together, I am confident that STPI will emerge out 
of this stronger and bolder than before.
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STPI is a dynamic creative workshop and 
contemporary art gallery based in Singapore. 
Established in 2002, STPI is a non-profit 
organisation committed to promoting artistic 
experimentation in the mediums of print 
and paper and has become one of the most 
cutting-edge destinations for contemporary 
art in Asia. STPI sits alongside National 
Gallery Singapore and the Singapore Art 
Museum as part of the national Visual Arts 
Cluster of leading institutions in the region.
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Ms Susan Kong

Ms Susan Kong serves as the Chairman of STPI. She is a founding partner of 
Q.E.D. Law Corporation. She has extensive working experience in banking 
and finance, corporate finance, foreign investments particularly in China, 
Indonesia and Thailand; mergers and acquisitions, restructuring and real 
estate investments. She is listed in several legal publications as a leading 
lawyer. Ms Kong has also served as a director on the boards of several 
companies across different industries in Singapore and Thailand. She is 
currently an independent director of SBS Transit Limited and a board 
member of HealthServe Limited.

Chair

BOARD MEMBERS

Ms Chong Siak Ching is the Chief Executive Officer of National Gallery Singapore 
and Head of the Visual Arts Cluster (VAC) Singapore since April 2013. The VAC 
comprises the Singapore Art Museum, STPI - Creative Workshop & Gallery and the 
National Gallery Singapore. Prior to this, she was the President and CEO of Ascendas 
since 2001, and was recognised as ‘Outstanding CEO of the Year’ in the Singapore 
Business Awards 2009 for her leadership and dynamism in establishing Ascendas as 
Asia’s leading provider of business space.

She is currently Chairperson of the Singapore Note and Coin Advisory Committee, 
Director on the Board of Singapore Press Holdings and Mandai Park Holdings Pte Ltd. 
She sits on the Board of the National Arts Council, she is a member of the Advisory 
Board at Nanyang Business School and a member of the Yale-NUS Governing Board.

She is Singapore’s Non-Resident Ambassador to the Republic of Chile.

Ms Chong Siak Ching
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Mr Kenneth Choe

Mr Low Eng Teong

Mr. Kenneth Choe is an Executive Director of Goldman Sachs Singapore in the 
Investment Management Division for over 25 years.  In his capacity as a Private 
Wealth Advisor,  he is responsible for providing wealth and risk management 
planning focusing on ultra-high net worth families and family offices.  He served on 
the board of Singapore Art Museum (SAM) for over 6 years and was also Chairman 
of the acquisition committee during his tenure.

Kenneth continues to serve as a member of the acquisition committee for SAM.

Mr Low Eng Teong was trained as a visual artist and graduated from art schools 
in New Zealand and Australia. He holds a Masters in Art and Art Education from 
Teachers College, Columbia University. Low joined the education service from 1995 
and served as a teacher, senior curriculum specialist and principal of a secondary 
school. He joined the National Arts Council (NAC) as Director, Visual Arts 
Sector Development in 2015. He is currently the Deputy Chief Executive (Sector 
Development) in NAC.
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Mr Irving Low is a partner in KPMG in Singapore. He has been with KPMG for over 27 
years, having worked in both the London and Singapore offices.

He is the Co-Head of Advisory (Singapore and Indonesia). As the Co-Head of Advisory 
(Singapore and Indonesia), he is responsible for the Advisory businesses and practices 
across Management Consulting, Risk Consulting as well as Deals Advisory, where the 
focus is on corporate finance, mergers and acquisition. Irving also sits in the firm’s Senior 
Executive Committee which oversees the firm’s strategic and operational excellence.

Irving‘s key area of practice is in Corporate Governance, where he is also the KPMG 
ASPAC Leader for Board Advisory Services. He has undertaken numerous corporate 
governance reviews for both public and private organisations in light of the renewed 
focus in this area. He is a frequent invited guest and speaker at board meetings and 
presentations as well as public forums on corporate governance.

In addition, Irving is a member of the Institute of Singapore Chartered Accountants 
(ISCA) where is a member of the Governance Committee and the chairperson of CPA 
Australia Sub-committee for the Public Sector.

Mrs Wong Ai Ai is a principal at Baker & McKenzie.Wong & Leow, a Global 
Executive Committee at Baker & McKenzie, and a key lawyer in the Firm’s private 
equity and mergers and acquisitions practices. She also serves as the Chairman 
of the Yellow Ribbon Fund.

Mrs Wong graduated from the University of Kent (UK), with a B.A. in Law (First 
Class), and holds a Masters in Law from Harvard University Law School. She is 
admitted to practise in Singapore, New York, England and Wales (Grays Inn).

Mr Irving Low

Mrs Wong Ai Ai
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Mr Sam Kok Weng

Mr Tan Chuan Yong

Mr Nathaniel Gunawan

Mr Sam Kok Weng is a partner with PwC in Singapore where he holds dual roles: Markets 
Leader and Financial Services Leader. As the Markets Leader, he oversees client coverage 
and go-to-market programs. As the Financial Services Leader, he oversees a team of c.500 
staff specialising in assurance and advisory services to financial institutions. He has broad 
management experience ranging from being on the Leadership Team to having run a 
regional business unit as well as led the human capital function. He was also the Markets 
Leader for PwC in Asia Pacific for several years.

Kok Weng specialises in deal advisory for financial institutions and fintech companies. In 
addition, Kok Weng is the Deputy Chairman of the Insolvency & Restructuring Practitioners 
Committee and a member of the Investigation and Disciplinary Panel of ISCA. He is a Board 
member of the School of the Arts as well as Alexandra Health Fund Limited. He is also a 
member of the Advising Panel to SMU – School of Accountancy and a volunteer docent 
with National Gallery Singapore.

Tan Chuan Yong is the managing partner of Tan Kim Seng & Partners, specializing in Singapore 
property, finance and banking law. Tan is a board member of The Private Museum, Singapore 
and sits on the School Advisory Committee of Hillgrove Secondary School.

Nathaniel P Gunawan is the Director of Oasis Waters International, a leading consumer goods 
company which is a national manufacturer & distributor of ready-to-drink water in Indonesia.

He has a background in private investments, starting his career at Morgan Stanley and then in 
a family office. He is also the Co-Founder & Director of Phoenix Films, a content investment 
company focusing on production and distribution of Singapore & Indonesian films.
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CREATIVE 
WORKSHOP

Brian Garner 
Head of Workshop 

& Projects

Oh Thiam Guan 
Assistant Project Leader  

& Senior Printer At-Large

Qamarul Asyraf 
Assistant Printer

Chong Li Sze 
Senior Printer

Derrick Ng 
Assistant Printer

Miyuki Chida 
Senior Fabricator & Printer

Terry Wee 
Assistant Printer

Tan Jun Yu 
Printer 
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CREATIVE 
WORKSHOP

Awaluddin Masnor 
Papermaker

Tan Tai Tien 
Senior Papermaker

Gordon Koh 
Assistant Project Leader  

& Senior Papermaker 

Edmund Chan 
Papermaker

Richard Phua 
Apprentice Papermaker

Tuan Szi Yi 
Executive  

(Imaging & Archiving)
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GALLERY Rita Targui 
Director – STPI Gallery

Tan Rachel 
Assistant Manager 

(Content & Communications)

Anathapindika 
Executive  

(Digital Marketing & 

Advertising)

Kong Yi Ling 
Senior Manager 

(Registrar & Sales)

Aiden Taufiq 
Executive  

(Sales & Admin)
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1 2

5

3

4
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GALLERY Yang Xiuting 
Senior Instructor 

(Education & Outreach 

Programmes)

Alex Lam 
Senior Graphic Designer

Amaryllis Puspabening 
Executive 

(Education & Outreach)
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9Toni Cuhadi 
Senior Photographer
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PROJECTS 
TEAM

CORPORATE 
SERVICES

Debby Lim 
Senior Manager  

(Projects & Operations)

Charmaine Ng 
Senior Executive  

(Projects & Operations)

Tan Yee 
Head of  

Corporate Services

Zuraifi Mohamed 
Saifollah 
Assistant Manager  

(Facilities & IT)

Ma Xiang Yao 
Assistant Manager (Finance)

Stephanie Khew 
Manager (HR & Admin);  

PA to Executive Director

Wong Fuat Jun 
Executive (Finance & HR)
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The STPI Creative Workshop is a 
rigorous space for artists to experiment 
with various print and papermaking 
techniques.

Bolstered by specialised facilities and 
a highly qualified workshop team, 
STPI Creative Workshop produces 
unique collaborations with leading 
international artists to challenge 
conventions in art, explore new 
trajectories in their practice and share 
their experience with the public.

About STPI Creative Workshop

Visiting 
Artists
Programme
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As the arrival of COVID-19 
precipitated the closing of borders 
and hence the ability for STPI 
to collaborate in-person with 
international artists, the organisation 
pivoted toward working more 
closely with local practitioners. This 
provided a valuable opportunity for 
STPI to further deepen our existing 
relationships with the vibrant 
domestic art ecosystem.

ON-SITE 
COLLABORATIONS

Heman Chong, Safe Entry (Version 2.0 - 2.7), 2020, exhibition installation shot
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Charles Lim

July 2020

*Image taken with compliance to photo-taking advisory from MCCY
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July 2020
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Heman Chong

August 2020

*Image taken with compliance to photo-taking advisory from MCCY
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Russel Wong

October 2020
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If All You Are Is A Nail Then Everything  
Looks Like A Hammer Version 2 (detail), 2018
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Jane Lee

December 2020

*This photo was taken before covid-19
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Jane Lee, Motion (detail), 2020



Ian Woo

February 2021
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Adeline Kueh

March 2021

*Image taken with compliance to photo-taking advisory from MCCY
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OFF-SITE  
Collaborations

STPI swiftly adapted to the 
changing circumstances of 
closed borders through exploring 
remote residencies for overseas 
artists. Overcoming geographical 
restrictions, this allowed the 
institution to continue its mission of 
collaborating with top international 
artists in unique and ground-
breaking projects.
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Janice Kerbel

July 2020 – February 2021

*This photo was taken before covid-19
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Lee Bul

July 2020 – February 2021

*This photo was taken before covid-19
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Prabhavathi 
Meppayil

July 2020 – February 2021

*This photo was taken before covid-19

52

HIGHLIGHTS & ACHIEVEMENTSSTPI Creative Workshop & Gallery Annual Report 2020/ 2021



Prabhavathi Meppayil, cu/lp/seventeen (detail), 2021
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Haegue Yang

July 2020 – February 2021

*This photo was taken before covid-19
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Haegue Yang, Edibles Diptych – NTUC Finest, Freshmart  
Singapore, Perilla Leaves, 58 g and 57 g (detail), 2021
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STPI Gallery is an active platform that fosters 
the exchange of ideas in contemporary 
art with its diverse exhibitions and public 
programmes. The gallery hosts specially 
curated exhibitions of works produced in 
the STPI Creative Workshop and regularly 
participates in international fairs. This 
enables it to nurture and sustain local 
and international interest in both its 
collaborators and in the mediums of print 
and paper. The gallery’s public programmes 
aims to engage and broaden visitor 
understanding of contemporary art, while 
exchanges with a variety of international 
curators, collectors and gallerists provide 
a holistic experience for audiences on a 
global level.

About STPI Gallery

EXHIBITIONS
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15 Aug – 13 Sep 2020

Turning the Axis of the World is an exhibition that 
considers how the turning of this primordial axis suggests 
an upending of the natural order of things; a cataclysmic 
overturn of the status quo. At such a juncture, a sense 
of instability, disquiet and anxiety ensues as long-held 
assumptions and the existing world order give way to 
change. The consideration of this unfolding of events is 
not mere conjecture – scientists have recently discovered 
that the earth’s axial motion is affected by climate change, 
bringing to the fore our tenuous relationship with the 
natural world and, by extension, the cosmic balance.

Panel discussion on the pertinent possibilities and 
meanings that arise from the turning of earths’ 
axis, featuring speakers Suzann Victor and Pinaree 
Sanpitak, moderated by Tan Siuli

Panel discussion on the pertinent possibilities and 
meanings that arise from the turning of earths’ 
axis, featuring speakers Ashley Bickerton and Heri 
Dono, moderated by Tan Siuli

Virtual Exhibition Tour and Education Tour of the 
exhibition produced for the exhibition, led by Guest 
Curator Tan Siuli

Q2

Turning the  
Axis of the World
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27 Sep – 15 Nov 2020

Shaping Visions unites each artist’s 
distinct depictions of natural and 
built environments, shedding light on 
personal reflections of and postures 
towards an evolving society. By 
bringing together existing, signature 
pieces as well as print-based works 
produced during their respective 
residencies at STPI, the comprehensive 
exhibition showcases each artist’s 
trail-blazing style and expert command 
of media and materials. As the artists 
hail from backgrounds that are 
largely not printmaking- centric, the 
exhibition will feature a diverse range 
of expressions that invite moments of 
pause, suspension and perception.

Q3

Annual Special 
Exhibition 
Shaping Visions

60

HIGHLIGHTS & ACHIEVEMENTSSTPI Creative Workshop & Gallery Annual Report 2020/ 2021



5 Cultural Medallion winners from Singapore 
featured: Chua Ee Kay, Goh Beng Kwan, Han 
Sai Por, Amanda Heng and Ong Kim Seng

Artist talk with Amanda Heng and Joyce 
Toh, where the conversation revolved 
around Heng’s interdisciplinary practice 
that explores collective memory, identity, 
human relationships, social issues and urban 
transition in Singapore
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Han Sai Por Sculpture Trail invited audiences to 
explore the city and capture images of Han Sai 
Por’s public sculptures on the premises of Nanyang 
Academy of Fine Arts, National Museum Singapore, 
Esplanade, One Raffles Quay and Capital Tower. The 
trail was conducted on our social media platforms, 
and the first 3 accounts who captured all 5 sculptures 
received a gift set of STPI merchandise.

Outdoor Workshop with renowned water 
colourist Ong Kim Seng, who conducted a 
demonstration of his painting process and guided an en 
plein air watercolour session along the Singapore River. 
Participants had the rare chance to learn about the 
application of contrasting colours, as well as techniques 
of blending and layering from Mr. Ong himself.
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5 Dec 2020 – 31 Jan 2021Q3

 
Proposals for novel ways of being: 
Strange Forms of Life
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The exhibition is part of a wider project titled ‘Proposals 
for novel ways of being’. An initiative spearheaded by 
National Gallery Singapore and Singapore Art Museum, 
it seeks to support the local art community by bridging 
institutions, independent art spaces, curators and artists 
based in Singapore. 

For this initiative, STPI worked with artist Guo-Liang 
Tan as the Guest Curator to bring together works by ten 
Singaporean artists to explore ideas of liveliness and 
questions of form, in relation to abstraction as a mode 
of engaging with different aspects of being. The artists 
are: Genevieve Chua, Han Sai Por, Jane Lee,  Kim Lim, 
Jeremy Sharma, Sherman Mern Tat Sam, Guo-Liang Tan, 
Suzann Victor, Ian Woo, Zul Mahmod.

“Kim Lim: Wind, Water, Stone” talk with Chanon 
Kenji Praepipatmongkol and Guo-Liang Tan where the 
discussion centred on the prolific practice of the late 
Singaporean-British sculptor Kim Lim

Panel discussion with exhibiting Han Sai Por, Adele 
Tan and Guo-Liang Tan situated around the artist’s 
biocentric apporach to abstraction

Artist talk with exhibiting artist Sherman Mern Tat 
Sam and Guo-Liang Tan, exploring ideas of liveliness 
and questions of form 

Circuity Drawing Class with exhibiting artist Zul 
Mahmod, where participants discovered the medium 
of sound art, got an introduction to electronic circuits 
and more
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20 Feb – 18 Apr 2021

From the Brexit coin, the backdoors of 
embassies, the spy novel, and the Straits 
Times to the QR codes of Singapore’s 
COVID-19 SafeEntry system, the artworks in 
the exhibition bring together a constellation 
of conceptual gestures based upon everyday 
encounters and autobiographical objects 
that chronicle the complex political and 
cultural landscape of our present moment. 
In the face of such expansive and everyday 
systems, the artworks, like the exhibition 
title, are ironic – at first funny and absurd 
and later bureaucratically insidious and 
unnerving. They are like bad jokes falling 
flat as reality sinks in. The exhibition is 
guest curated by Kathleen Ditzig.

Q4

Heman Chong 
Peace Prosperity  
And Friendship  
With All Nations
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Artist talk with Heman Chong and Kathleen Ditzig, 
which discussed the diverse forms of the artist’s 
practice and the urgencies that define his work

Artist performance of Words, They, Wrote, based 
upon texts written by other artists and accompanied 
by slides that contextualise the texts

Multiple curator-led tours throughout the exhibition 
guided by Kathleen Ditzig
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20 Nov – 22 Nov 2020

In conjunction with the AGAS Gallery Weekend 
in November, STPI Gallery showcased an 
intimate group presentation of paper pulp 
works by artists Goh Beng Kwan, Hong Zhu 
An, Jason Martin, Shinro Ohtake, Pinaree 
Sanpitak and Shambhavi Singh. Imbued 
with a sense of creative pursuit and material 
discovery, this presentation brings into 
dialogue organic, fibrous works innovatively 
and delicately developed by five significant 
contemporary artists in STPI’s in-house paper 
mill. This weekend pop-up occupied STPI’s 
centre gallery, and was supported by hands-on 
papermaking demonstrations and activities, 
as well as a ‘discovery corner’ of raw fibres and 
pulp material over the course of three days.

Programmes such as ‘Pulp in Action: Discovery 
Corner’ where guests got an exclusive look at 
STPI’s in-house paper mill, and a papermaking 
workshop where spices, tints, flower petals and 
other mixed materials were used to create a 
unique handmade paper

Q3

Pop-up Exhibition: 
Pulpable moments
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21 May – 21 Jun 2020

Printmakers’ Assembly opened up the gallery 
programme to show artworks beyond those 
produced in STPI’s Creative Workshop. The 
exhibition celebrated the strength, richness 
and variability of printmaking practices, 
especially as now, more than ever, the resolve 
towards supporting independent artists 
around the world is deeply crucial. 

65 works from 25 artists all around the 
world that demonstrated innovative, 
diverse treatments and technical 
competencies.

Q1

Printmakers’ Assembly  

*Digital Images provided by the artists and are not taken by STPI during Covid-19
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ART FAIRS

The art world resolutely continued 
on in the face of a distinctly different 
world last year. As borders closed, the 
Internet was teeming with activities, 
including the proliferation of online 
viewing rooms in lieu of physical fairs. 
STPI forged ahead and embraced the 
virtual format as well, and the art fair 
calendar was kept full with multiple 
online viewing room participations and 
virtual fair walkthroughs.

Richard Deacon, Blackfriars Blue (detail), 2012
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13 May – 13 Jun 2020 New York

Featuring works by Heman Chong, Ryan 
Gander, Richard Deacon, Tobias Rehberger, 
Eko Nugroho and Teppei Kaneuji

Q1

IFPDA Fine Art Print Fair
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19 Jun – 26 Jun 2020Q1

Featuring works by Jason Martin, Do 
Ho Suh, Haegue Yang, Anri Sala and 
Genevieve Chua. STPI Gallery at the 
second edition of Art Basel Online 
Viewing Rooms.

Debuting recent works on the Art Basel 
Online Viewing Rooms was Genevieve 
Chua, following her residency at STPI in 
2019 and her solo exhibition ‘Twofold’ at 
the gallery in 2020.

Art Basel Online 
Viewing Rooms

Genevieve Chua, Edge Control #30, Kiss (Unplanned) (detail), 2020
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Featuring a solo presentation of works 
by acclaimed Japanese artists Takashi 
Murakami

IFPDA Fine Art Print 
Fair | Fall 2020 Edition

7 Oct – 1 Nov 2020Q3

Takashi Murakami, October Story (detail), 2019 
©️2019 Takashi Murakami/Kaikai Kiki Co., Ltd. All Rights Reserved.

New York
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9 Oct – 16 Oct 2020

Featuring works by Heman Chong, 
Genevieve Chua, Do Ho Suh, Anri Sala, 
Ryan Gander, Shirazeh Houshiary and 
Jason Martin

Q3

Frieze London Online 
Viewing Room

Do Ho Suh, Fire Extinguisher, Unit G5 Union Wharf, 23 Wenlock Road, 
London, N1 7SB, UK (detail), 2017
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2 Dec – 6 Dec 2020

Featuring new works by Sam Durant

Presenting key works by Heman Chong (Singapore), 
Genevieve Chua (Singapore) Tobias Rehberger 
(Germany), Pinaree Sanpitak (Thailand), Do Ho Suh 
(South Korea/USA/UK), Rirkrit Tiravanija (USA/
Thailand) and Haegue Yang (South Korea/Germany)

Sam Durant, Untitled (Communism), (Colonialism) and (Confederacy), 2020

Q3

Art Basel OVR:  
Miami Beach 2020
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SOUTH SOUTH VEZA’s Curated Viewing Rooms covers 
over 50 curated presentations offering an expansive 
view of art production in the global south and galleries 
who have dedicated their focus on bringing attention 
to artists from the periphery and the diaspora.

Featuring works by Hema Upadhyay and Shambhavi 
Singh this inaugural edition of SOUTH SOUTH VEZA.

23 Feb – 7 Mar 2021Q4

SOUTH SOUTH VEZA

Shambhavi Singh, Anjor Teen / Illuminate (detail), 2011
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Sam Durant, Untitled (Confederacy) (detail), 2020

Featuring a solo presentation of new 
works by American artist Sam Durant

Art Basel OVR: Pioneers

24 Mar – 27 Mar 2021Q4
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PUBLIC
PROGRAMMES
& COMMUNITY
OUTREACH

Incepted during the lockdown back in 
2020 where there restrictions on on-site 
events, Outreach has turned to creating 
new online engagements such as the STPI 
Digital Activity Guide (DAG).

Simple craft activities were designed 
to introduce printmaking techniques to 
families with children using materials 
that can be found around the house. 
The DAGs were released weekly from 
April to May and subsequently, monthly. 
Content focused on various themes 
and techniques, with each activity also 
highlighting a STPI artist.

Our DAGs have received positive responses 
from industry contacts as well as from 
members of the public who have tried the 
activities at home with their family.
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Incepted during the lockdown back in 2020 
where there restrictions on on-site events, 
Outreach has turned to creating new online 
engagements such as the STPI Digital Activity 
Guide (DAG).

Simple craft activities were designed to 
introduce printmaking techniques to families 
with children using materials that can be found 
around the house. The DAGs were released 
weekly from April to May and subsequently, 
monthly. Content focused on various themes 
and techniques, with each activity also 
highlighting a STPI artist.

Our DAGs have received positive responses 
from industry contacts as well as from members 
of the public who have tried the activities at 
home with their family.

Digital Activity Guides

Digital Activty Guide: 
Mother’s Day Special
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For example, the Mother’s Day Special 
activity included downloadable templates 
for a Mother’s Day card, which participants 
can decorate using stamps made from 
repurposed fruits and vegetables waste. 
This activity used the relief print technique, 
and highlighted the work of Haegue Yang, 
who created relief print works using edible 
materials during her residency at STPI.

Top to bottom, left to right:

- Marble-lous

- My Pet Rock

- Make Your Own Hand Soap

- DIY Turtle Racers
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STPI x NLB: Get Started in Printmaking STPI x Esplanade: Huayi Festival

*Images were taken with adherence to the guidelines from the 
Digital Productions for Arts and Culture Stakeholders

*Images were taken with adherence to the guidelines from the 
Digital Productions for Arts and Culture Stakeholders

Miniature Drypoint Portraiture on A–List SG 
(https://www.a-list.sg/5-reasons-to-try-drypoint-
printing/)

Digital programmes
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STPI x AIC – Free Introduction to Screenprinting 
for 100 community care workers

STPI x vOilah! Festival STPI x Gucci Ouverture Collection Showcase

On-site programmes
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STPI at Singapore Art Book Fair Youth engagement: Mini Curators Academy
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16 October 2020

11 November 2020

Artist-led workshops

Outdoor Watercolour 
Workshop with Ong 
Kim Seng

Collage & Collagraph 
Workshop with Goh 
Beng Kwan
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Circuitry Drawing 
Class with 
Zul Mahmod

7 January 2021
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Font Memories brought our visitors print 
and papermaking activities inspired by 
text, letters and typography. Various 
workshops and stations ran simultaneously 
throughout the two day, and visitors could 
create their own handmade print under the 
guidance of STPI’s expert workshop team. 
The workshop team also provided various 
print and papermaking demonstrations on 
stone lithography, intaglio, relief printing, 
screenprinting and papermaking to increase 
awareness on these techniques.

Over the course of the weekend, the Open 
House event attracted a total of 867 visitors

20 - 21 March 2021

Open House 
2021:  
FONT MEMORIES
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Friends of STPI (FoSTPI) was launched with the 
aim of providing support to our visiting artist 
programme. Members and their partner gain 
exclusive access to the dynamic regional art scene 
and our artists, and a year’s activities that promise 
unique experiences and fresh perspectives. 
The invaluable support of our members play a 
significant role in bringing in world-class artists 
and contribute towards the growth of our creative 
space, as well as the cultural development of 
Singapore.

Though many usual FoSTPI programmes were 
unable to take place the past year due to the 
pandemic, the gallery nevertheless continued to 
foster intimate exchanges between STPI residency 
artists and FoSTPI members. A prominent initiative 
was A Letter from the Artist, where artists such 
as Entang Wiharso, Melati Suryodarmo and Janice 
Kerbel penned reflections on their experience of 
the pandemic.

FoSTPI
PROGRAMME
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Letter From The Artist: Pinaree Sanpitak
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Letter From The Artist: Melati Suryodarmo
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Letter From The Artist: Entang Wiharso
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Innovative and experiential, the STPI team 
circumvented the pandemic restrictions by 
transforming our usual fundraiser into a two-
pronged event. On one hand, an online auction 
was held to raise funds. On the other, a novel 
amd immersive on-site experience of intimate, 
artist-led activities was conducted over one 
weekend.

These activities, which also provided the 
opportunity to foster closer connections and 
provide a platform to local artists, were met 
with extremely positive responses.

FUNDRAISER 2020: 
Biome
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Artist-led activities line-up: 

Yanyun Chen

Alvin Chong

Heman Chong 

Genevieve Chua

Adeline Kueh

Ruben Pang

Khairullah Rahim

Jason Wee

Ian Woo

Zul Mahmod

Activations of transitional spaces:

Priyageetha Dia

Charles Lim

Highlights of the Evening
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Coinciding with Singapore Art Week this year, 
STPI and One Dream partnered with renowned 
Singaporean photographer and artist Russel 
Wong to create a total of 49 print-based works 
centred on two compositions of the orchid, the 
iconic national flower of Singapore and a symbol 
of love, beauty, perseverance and strength. One 
of the works was gifted to the National Centre for 
Infectious Diseases (NCID) as a token of gratitude 
for being at the forefront of Singapore’s outbreak 
efforts against COVID-19, while 48 other works 
were gifted to Family Service Centres (FSCs) 
across Singapore, as a gesture of appreciation 
and encouragement for their essential support 
and services to the families of Singaporeans 
particularly during this challenging time.

ART FOR  
OUR NATION
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One Dream, STPI honouring frontline healthcare and social workers in Singapore by sharing art
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S.E.A. Focus 2021 presented twinned 
offerings – S.E.A. Focus Digital and S.E.A. 
Focus Curated. S.E.A. Focus Digital is an 
online platform staged exclusively with Artsy, 
leading global online fine art marketplace 
and Main Online Partner of S.E.A. Focus 
2021. The platform enabled S.E.A. Focus 
to bring contemporary art from Southeast 
Asia to a global audience, including avid 
art collectors in Artsy’s extensive database, 
and offered them a seamless discovery-to-
purchase experience.

S.E.A. Focus Curated, on the other hand, is 
an immersive, physical showcase in Tanjong 
Pagar Distripark where works of art from 
participating galleries are presented in a 
space designed by architect Randy Chan 
of Zarch Collaboratives. The showcase 
eschewed the usual layout of art fair booths 
for an open, fluid exhibition. The show, titled 
hyper–horizon, is a response to the waves 
of change and possibility seizing Southeast 
Asia as it sought to spur urgent focus on 
the place and vitality of art in testing times.

S.E.A FOCUS  
2021
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MCCY Minister Edwin Tong and Minister Grace Fu at S.E.A. Focus 2021
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Curator’s Tour French Ambassador Tour
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S.E.A Focus 2021 Partners
Supported by:

Programme Partners

Site Design

Special Thanks Programme Partners Special Mentions

Han Sai Por  
Korakrit Arunanondchai

Communications PartnerTechnical Service Provider Community Partner Official Logistics Partner Ticketing Partner

Part Of: Main Online Partner Exclusive Media Partner Part of:
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Organised a total of 4 online panel discussions 
and 1 special segment featuring renowned 
collecting duo, the The Rubell Family. 

SEAspotlight

Lito & Kim and Kenneth

Held once a year during Singapore Art Week in January, Collectors’ Insights is a platform for 

prominent collectors to share their philosophy behind collecting and their own collection. This 

year’s edition featured established collectors Lito and Kim Camacho, and Kenneth Tan.
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The Straits Times (SG), Business 
Times (SG), ArtAsiaPacific (HK), Ocula 
(digital) and The Artling (digital)

Media Coverage

Online events such as studio visits 
to Korakrit Arunanondchai, Faris 
Nakamura and Melissa Tan’s studios, 
and institutional visits to MCAD Manila 
and Museum Macan, Jakarta were held 
to continually foster exchanges on 
contemporary art of the region despite 
physical restrictions.

115

HIGHLIGHTS & ACHIEVEMENTSSTPI Creative Workshop & Gallery Annual Report 2020/ 2021



 # CHAPTER ( 4 )    
 <SPECIAL MENTIONS/> 

116

SPECIAL MENTIONSSTPI Creative Workshop & Gallery Annual Report 2020/ 2021



Standing, From Left to Right: Clara Chan, Virginie Labbe, Yit Peng Chong, Manisha Sanadhya, Swapna 
Mirashi, Angie Ng, Cagil Yurdakul Toker, Jen Wilson, Darlene Kasten, Deena Goh, Nupur Agarwala 
Bahadur, Tenzin Dolkar, Erika Cisneros, Anna Watson, Sabine Gebele-Pham 
Seated, From Left to Right: Thet Thet Han, Seema Devitre, Samantha Carle, Akiko Kato, Shireen Wee

*This photo was taken before covid-19Our 
Docents;
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Genevieve Chua, Pivot Point (detail), 2020Russel Wong, Heliconia (detail), 2020
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DONORS/PATRONS STPI is a non-profit organisation that relies on various funding sources for its operations. It is through 
the generosity of our donors and patrons that we are empowered to be one of the leading institutions 
for contemporary art, committed to the production and presentation of innovative artistic works in 
the mediums of print and papermaking. With their invaluable support, STPI can continue to push 
the boundaries of creative excellence beyond local shores, and become a world-class institution that 
propels Singapore towards artistic and cultural prominence on the international stage.

Adrienne Louise Li Yen Lai
Aditya Mehta
Alexander & Yvonne 
Turnbull
Alicia Choo
Andrea & Manuela Bille
Andreas Ruschkowski 
Adrian Ang
Anna Katrina Siytangco
Bill Cheng
Binjahtree
Canvas & Cloth pte ltd
Cham Wei Heong 
Chan Keng Loke
Chang Siok Eng
Chong Huai Seng
Chong Siak Ching
Clement Lim
Cui Wei
Daniel Teo
David Zemans
Doris Sohmen-Pao 
Gordon Tan
Dudley House Consulting 
Pte Ltd
Ebba Henningson & Cyril 
Brudy

Eric Cheah
Anthony Eu
Fabian Lua 
February Faye Siytangco
Geoffrey Eu
Grant Coombe
Hanno Elbraechter
Harman Singh
Helu-Trans (s) Pte Ltd
Henry Tay
Holywell Foundation Ltd
Huang Li Jie
Irving Low
Jim Rogers & Paige 
Parker
Jim Amberson  
Jesslyne Widjaja 
Joanne Ngeow
Karl-Heinz Jung
Kenneth Tan
Kokoro Brands & Co
Lee Hwee Chin
Nicola Lee
Leong Wah Kheong
Irene Li
Li Xionghu
Li-Anne Huang

Lisa Marie Cruz Joven 
Liu Ying Mei
Lourdes and Michelangelo Samson
Low Eng Teong
Low Sze Wee 
Ma Xuewen
Margaret Chew
Margaret Ferte
Marie Elaine Teo
Mary Ann Tsao
Meena Tay
Metis Art Pte Ltd
Michael Tay
Nadav Lehavy & Lisa Botos
Nathaniel Gunawan 
Ng Jun Wei 
Stephen Ng
Jason Ong
Pamela Tan
Parekh Patricia Luchangco
Pierre Lorinet
Poh Joo Ting
Poon Siew Win 
Pabu Gandhi
Pritpal gill
Priyadarshini rath  
Puneet chadha

Q framing pte. ltd.
Rachel Teo
Raiskin Julia
Rajesh Karthikeyan
Rajul Shah
Richard & Lauren Nijkerk 
Richard & Zainab Slovenski
Robert Saville
Roopa & Shiv Dewan
Sai Baba 
Stephane Targui
Susan Kong
Tan Chuan Yong
Tony Tan
Paul Tan
Tan Suenne Megan
Tan Yee
Tang Li Jen
Teng Kim Ping
Vir Kotak 
Wee Teng Wen
Whye Choe 
Wong Aiai
Woo Rebecca
Yandluri Raviteja
Yong Lee Chieh  
Zal & Seema Devitre
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DOCENT VOLUNTEERS

STPI’s Docent Programme is supported by docent volunteers from Friends 
of the Museum (FOM). Our longstanding partnership with Friends of the 
Museum has welcomed passionate and enthusiastic individuals, who 
have become excellent ambassadors for STPI in the arts community. The 
diversity amongst the docent community has also allowed us to reach 
out to various foreign language communities – French, Korean, Japanese 
and Spanish. Our docents are committed to sharing the wonders of print 
and papermaking, and undergo four months of training to be equipped 
to conduct tours for the public and school groups.

STPI’s Gallery Internship Programme provides a 
unique platform for individuals to gain valuable insight 
into the different facets of gallery programming and 
operations through supporting various departments – 
Communications, Education & Outreach, Registrar and 
Sales. Depending on current projects and schedules, 
interns will take on various roles and gallery duties, 
with tasks ranging from managing day-to-day gallery 
operations, research and writing tasks for upcoming 
exhibitions and artist residency projects, to preparing 
for exhibition openings and event set-ups.

(as per 10 February 2021) Starting April 2020 – March 2021INTERNS

Renee Chua
Althea Isis Giron
Tan Shi Min
Ummul Hasanah
Lee Zeng Xi
Raelene Yang
Amanda Quah
Syafiqah Abdul Alimsidik
Celine Ho
Timothy Chng

Nupur Agarwala Bahadur 
Samantha Carle 
Clara Chan 
Yit Peng Chong 
Erika Cisneros 
Maria Conde 
Seema Devitre 
Roopa Dewan 
Durriya Dohadwala 
Tenzin Dolkar 
Alexandra Domart 
Sara Fredaigue 
Ikumi Fushimi 
Sabine Gebele-Pham 
Deena Goh 
Madhumita Goswami 
Thet Thet Han 
Maureen Hellspong 

Alka Kapoor 
Darlene Kasten 
Akiko Kato 
Ellen Heejin Kim 
Virginie Labbé 
Sarah Lev 
Michiyo Lim 
Yuen Ping Lim
Krystina Lyon 
Swapna Mirashi 
Angie Ng 
Jane Ong 
Pixim Ooi
Moni Pang 
Nishtha Pathak 
Neena Ramaswami 
Manisha Sanadhya 
Vidya Schalk 

Victoria Wong
Tiffanie Hon
Haikal bin Fadzil
Laetitia Arabella
Pia Wong
Anna Naveen
Lew Kylin
Krystal Choo
Nathan Tan Yew Wai
Zhao Yi

Ai Lee Shia 
Sabine 
Silberstein 
Fiona Silva 
Sue Sismondo 
Jacqueline Thng 
Patricia Ugarte 
Elissa Viornery 
Justina Vo 
Anna Watson 
Shireen Wee 
(Hui Ying) 
Jennifer Wilson 
Chee Sing Wong 
Jo Wright 
Jessica Yap 
Cagil Yurdakul 
Toker 
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Haegue Yang, Edibles – NTUC Finest, OH’ FARMS, Chives, 50 g, Décalcomanie (detail), 2019
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Singapore Tyler Print Institute (STPI) was set up on 18 October 2000 as a company limited 
by guarantee under the umbrella of Ministry of Information, Communications and the Arts 
which is now known as Ministry of Culture, Community and Youth. STPI was registered 
under the Charities Act on 22 December 2000. It is also an approved Institution of a Public 
Character (IPC) under Charities Act (Cap 37) ti l l  31 October 2022.

Annual Report for the Year Ended 31 March 2021

Charity Registration Number

Unique Entity Number (UEN)

Registered Address: 

Principal Place of Business:

Governing Board members/trustees:

1482

200008878C

80 Raffles Place, #32-01 UOB Plaza 1, 
Singapore 048624

41 Robertson Quay, Singapore 238236

1.

2.

3. 

4.

5.

5.2

5.1

Board of Directors

 
1) Mr. Ong Yew Huat 
2) Ms. Chen Huey Rosa 
3) Ms. Chong Siak Ching

Susan Kong Yim Pui 
Chong Siak Ching 
Kenneth Whye Choe 
Wong Ai Ai 
Low Irving Chee Whay 
Low Eng Teong 
Nathaniel Putra Gunawan 
Sam Kok Weng 
Tan Chuan Yong

Susan Kong Yim Pui 
Chong Siak Ching 
Kenneth Whye Choe 
Low Irving Chee Whay

Low Irving Chee Whay 
Kenneth Whye Choe 
Wong Ai Ai 

Name

Name

Name

Chairman 
Director 
Director 
Director 
Director 
Director 
Director 
Director 
Director

Chairman 
Member 
Member 
Member

Chairperson 
Member 
Member 

Designation

Designation

Designation

Directors in office (as at date of this report) are as follows:

Susan Kong Yim Pui had been a member of the Board since October 2007. She was appointed 
chairperson of the Board with effect from 19 October 2019 to provide continuity and stability of 
leadership to the Company.

Nathaniel Putra Gunawan, Sam Kok Weng and Tan Chuan Yong were appointed to the Board on 18 
December 2020, with the term ending on 18 October 2021 to coincide with the term of the existing 
Directors.

SINGAPORE TYLER PRINT INSTITUTE

Executive Committee

Audit Committee

The Executive Committee (EXCO) assists the Board in the stewardship and oversight of 
STPI. The EXCO works closely with the STPI’s management, reviews STPI’s operations 
and supervises its financial matters. This entails endorsing and monitoring financial 
budgets and guidelines, as well as reporting to the Board on any financial irregularities 
and concerns.

EXCO members (as at date of this report) are as follows:

The Audit Committee (AC) assists the Board in fulfilling its responsibilities by 
providing an independent review of the financial reporting as well as overseeing the 
adequacy and effectiveness of internal controls, and financial statements. In addition, 
the AC is also tasked to review and approve STPI’s adequacy and effectiveness of 
enterprise risk management framework and the quality of risk mitigation and control 
plans for all areas of risk identified by management.  Where appropriate, the AC 
will make recommendations to the Board on areas of improvement and supervise 
the management in furnishing periodic reports to the Board on its risk management 
action plans.

Existing AC members (as at date of this report) are as follows:

5.4

5.3
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1 One meeting was held since the Director’s date of first appointment.

Directors’ Attendance5.5

Susan Kong Yim Pui

Chong Siak Ching

Kenneth Whye Choe 

Mrs Wong Ai Ai

Low Irving Chee Whay

Low Eng Teong  

 

Nathaniel Putra Gunawan 

Sam Kok Weng 

Tan Chuan Yong

19 Oct ‘07 (Member) 

19 Oct ‘19 (Chairman) 

01 Apr ‘13

19 Oct ‘15

19 Oct ‘15

19 Oct ‘18

03 Jan ‘18 

 

18 Dec ‘20 

18 Dec ‘20 

18 Dec ‘20 

 

19 Oct ‘19 

 

19 Oct ‘18

19 Oct ‘18

19 Oct ‘18

-

19 Oct ‘18

- 

- 

-

- 

 

-

-

-

-

-

-

4 

 

4

4

4

4

4

11 

11 

11

4 

 

4

4

-

4

-

- 

- 

-

- 

 

-

2

2

2

-

- 

- 

-

4 

 

4

4

3

4

4

1 

1 

1

4 

 

4

4

-

4

-

- 

- 

-

- 

 

-

2

2

2

-

- 

- 

-

Name Date of First 
appointment  
of Committee 

Date of Last  
Re-appointment

Date of Cessation Board

Held Held HeldAttended Attended Attended

Exco AC
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Accumulated Surplus & Reserve Policy

STPI’s accumulated surplus comprises General fund (“GF”) and Technology and 
Development fund (“TDF”).  

Surplus reserve is part of the STPI’s income funds that is freely available for its 
operating purposes. Over time, there could be cumulative surplus reserves being 
built up when grant and operating revenues exceed the STPI’s annual expenditure. 
The purpose of the cumulative surplus is to ensure adequate reserve for long-term 
financial sustainability and to meet unexpected funding needs.

According to STPI’s Reserve Policy, STPI targets to accumulate $20 million in 
the GF. This represents around 2.5 to 3 years’ worth of operating expenditures. 
Reserves needed to meet immediate operating needs shall be placed in current 
accounts with local financial institution.

Excess reserves beyond immediate needs are to be placed in short-term bank 
deposits in MAS approved financial institutions with good credit rating. More than 
50% of these reserves must be deposited in local financial institution.

11

Disclosure and Transparency  

Remuneration of the top three key staff for the financial year ended 31 March 2021 
is tabled below. 

Remuneration comprises basic salaries, annual wage supplements, bonuses and 
contributions to Central Provident Fund. 

During the year, none of the 3 highest paid staff serves as a governing board 
member. There is also no paid staff being a close member of the family belonging 
to the Executive Head or a governing board member of STPI.

12

$200,000 to below $300,000

Renumeration Range

1

Number of staff

$100,000 to below $200,000 2

Principal Bank:  
DBS Bank Limited

External Auditors:  
Deloitte and Touche LLP

Objective

Policies

STPI seeks to develop Singapore as a leading player in the contemporary art 
world by collaborating with top international artists in unique, ground-breaking 
projects. Through its artist collaborations, artworks, exhibitions and public 
programmes, STPI engages both international and local art communities with the 
aim of inspiring and developing an appreciation of print and paper art practice. 

Finance & Funding 
STPI is partly funded by the Ministry of Culture, Community and Youth; 
sponsorships and donations received from corporations/individuals; and receipts 
from the sales of Art Works created in STPI in collaboration with visiting artists.

6

7

8

9

Review of year-ended 31 March 2021

A) Staffing as at 31 March 2021 – 32 staff

B) The donation/sponsorship received during the financial year amounted 
to $289,047 (2019: $730,705).  Of which, $196,822 (2019: $488,580) are tax 
deductible donation.

• Singaporean & PR – 28  
• Foreigner – 4

10

126

CORPORATE GOVERNANCESTPI Creative Workshop & Gallery Annual Report 2020/ 2021



Conflict of Interest

Future Plans and Commitments

Whistleblowing Policy

STPI’s Memorandum and Articles of Association requires disclosure of interests in 
transactions or proposed transactions which might create duties or interests in 
conflict with his duties and interests as a Director. A Director shall not be entitled 
to vote on the matter and not be taken into an account in ascertaining whether a 
quorum is present. 

STPI has put in place a Conflict of Interest Policy.

STPI continues to work with well-known international artists to create works with 
paper and print technique in the workshop. The continued effort to work with 
world renowned artists will enhance STPI’s position as a creative workshop and 
gallery while putting Singapore on the international map. STPI is reaching out to 
the other parts of the world by participating in Art fairs in Europe, United States 
of America and North Asia.

STPI has put in place a Whistleblowing Policy. Any person may report any 
allegations of suspected misconduct that may adversely impact STPI, STPI’s 
stakeholders, STPI’s employees, or the public at large. Employees can report 
such allegations to their superior or to Chairman, STPI Board of Directors. Non-
employees can report to the Chairman.

13

14

15
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SINGAPORE TYLER PRINT INSTITUTE
(A company limited by guarantee)

1

DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT

The directors present their statement together with the audited financial statements of Singapore Tyler Print
Institute (the “Institute”) for the financial year ended March 31, 2021.

In the opinion of the directors,

a) the accompanying financial statements as set out on pages 6 to 30 are drawn up in accordance with
the provisions of the Singapore Companies Act, Chapter 50 (the “Act”), Singapore Charities Act,
Chapter 37 (the “Charities Act”) and Financial Reporting Standards in Singapore (“FRSs”) so as to give
a true and fair view of the financial position of the Institute as at March 31, 2021 and the financial
performance, changes in accumulated surplus and cash flows of the Institute for the financial year
then ended;

b) the donation money have been used in accordance with the objectives of the Institute as required
under Regulation 11 of the Charities (Institutions of a Public Character) Regulations;

c) the Institute has complied with the requirements of Regulation 15 (Fund-raising expense) of the
Charities (Institutions of a Public Character) Regulations;

d) the accounting and other records required by the Act have been properly kept in accordance with the
provisions of the Act; and

e) at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Institute will be able
to pay its debts when they fall due.

1 DIRECTORS

The directors of the Institute in office at the date of this statement are:

Susan Kong Yim Pui
Kenneth Whye Choe
Tang Ai Ai (Mrs Wong Ai Ai)
Chong Siak Ching
Low Eng Teong
Low Irving Chee Whay
Nathaniel Putra Gunawan (Appointed December 18, 2020)
Sam Kok Weng (Appointed December 18, 2020)
Tan Chuan Yong (Appointed December 18, 2020)

2 DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As the Institute is limited by guarantee, the Board of Directors do not consider it necessary to
report on the matters to be disclosed under Section 201(6)(f) and (g); Section 201(6A), (g) and (h);
Section 201(11) and Section 201(12) of the Singapore Companies Act.
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3

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF

SINGAPORE TYLER PRINT INSTITUTE
(A company limited by guarantee)

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Singapore Tyler Print Institute (the “Institute”), which comprise
the statement of financial position as at March 31, 2021, and the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, statement of changes in accumulated surplus and statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies, as set out on pages 6 to 30.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements are properly drawn up in accordance with the
provisions of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 (the “Act”), the Charities Act, Chapter 37 (the “Charities Act”)
and Financial Reporting Standards in Singapore (“FRSs”) so as to give a true and fair view of the financial
position of the Institute as at March 31, 2021 and of the financial performance, changes in accumulated
surplus and cash flows of the Institute for the year ended on that date.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing (“SSAs”). Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Institute in accordance with the Accounting
and Corporate Regulatory Authority (“ACRA”) Code of Professional Conduct and Ethics for Public Accountants
and Accounting Entities (“ACRA Code”) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit
of the financial statements in Singapore, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with these requirements and the ACRA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Information Other than the Financial Statements and Auditor’s Report Thereon

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Directors’ Statement
set out on pages 1 to 2.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information,
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

4

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF

SINGAPORE TYLER PRINT INSTITUTE
(A company limited by guarantee)

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with the provisions of the Act, the Charities Act and FRSs, and for devising and maintaining a
system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance that assets are
safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are properly authorised and
that they are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair financial statements and to
maintain accountability of assets.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Institute’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Institute or to cease
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Institute’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted
in accordance with SSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with SSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

a) Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

b) Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Institute’s internal control.

c) Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.
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5

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF

SINGAPORE TYLER PRINT INSTITUTE
(A company limited by guarantee)

d) Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Institute’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Institute to cease to continue as
a going concern.

e) Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in
a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

In our opinion, the accounting and other records required to be kept by the Institute have been properly
kept in accordance with the provisions of the Act, and the Charities Act.

During the course of our audit, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that during the
year:

a. The Institute has not used the donation moneys in accordance with its objectives as required under
Regulation 11 of the Charities (Institutions of a Public Charter) Regulations; and

b. The Institute has not complied with the requirements of Regulation 15 of the Charities (Institutions of
a Public Character) Regulations.

Public Accountants and
Chartered Accountants
Singapore

August 20, 2021

SINGAPORE TYLER PRINT INSTITUTE
(A company limited by guarantee)

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
March 31, 2021

Note 2021 2020
$ $

Accumulated surplus
General fund 7,743,690 7,468,992
Technology and Development fund 6 2,608,176 2,608,176

10,351,866 10,077,168

Represented by:

Non-current asset
Plant and equipment 7 547,563 767,466

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 8 14,298,715 12,820,781
Trade and other receivables 9 509,160 825,798
Total current assets 14,807,875 13,646,579

Total assets 15,355,438 14,414,045

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 10 2,145,126 1,516,568
Deferred grants 11 832,999 737,328
Total current liabilities 2,978,125 2,253,896

Non-current liability
Deferred grants 11 2,025,447 2,082,981

Net assets 10,351,866 10,077,168
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SINGAPORE TYLER PRINT INSTITUTE
(A company limited by guarantee)

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

7

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Year ended March 31, 2021

Note 2021 2020
$ $

Income 12 2,590,411 5,181,426

Expenditure:

Employee benefits expense 13 (2,562,480) (2,663,013)

Depreciation expense 7 (325,124) (351,834)

Other operating expenses 14 (3,951,210) (5,846,981)

Deficit before income tax and grants (4,248,403) (3,680,402)

Income tax 15 - -

Deficit after income tax but before grants (4,248,403) (3,680,402)

Grants:

Grants from government 16 3,480,102 3,437,062

Deemed grant income to match the fair value
   of the rental expense 18 778,960 796,080

Deferred capital grants amortised 11 264,039 281,651
4,523,101 4,514,793

Surplus for the year, representing total
   comprehensive income for the year 17 274,698 834,391

SINGAPORE TYLER PRINT INSTITUTE
(A company limited by guarantee)

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN ACCUMULATED SURPLUS
Year ended March 31, 2021

Accumulated surplus

General
fund

Technology
and

development
fund Total

$ $ $

Balance at April 1, 2019 6,634,601 2,608,176 9,242,777

Surplus for the year, representing total
   comprehensive income for the year 834,391 - 834,391

Balance at March 31, 2020 7,468,992 2,608,176 10,077,168

Surplus for the year, representing total
   comprehensive income for the year 274,698 - 274,698

Balance at March 31, 2021 7,743,690 2,608,176 10,351,866
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SINGAPORE TYLER PRINT INSTITUTE
(A company limited by guarantee)

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

9

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Year ended March 31, 2021

2021 2020
$ $

Operating activities
Deficit before income tax and grants (4,248,403) (3,680,402)
Adjustments for:

Deemed rental expense 778,960 796,080
Depreciation expense 325,124 351,834
Loss on disposal of plant and equipment - 781
Interest income (61,597) (96,479)

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital (3,205,916) (2,628,186)

Trade and other receivables 107,762 (166,743)
Trade and other payables 628,558 (816,818)

Cash used in operations (2,469,596) (3,611,747)

Interest received 90,474 79,684
Net cash used in operating activities (2,379,122) (3,532,063)

Investing activity
Purchase of plant and equipment, representing

net cash used in investing activity (Note A) (105,221) (213,151)

Financing activity
Grants received, representing

net cash from financing activity 3,962,277 4,931,332

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 1,477,934 1,186,118
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 12,820,781 11,634,663
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year (Note 8) 14,298,715 12,820,781

Note to statement of cash flows

A) There is no cash movement arising from deemed grant income to match the fair value of rental
expenses of $778,960 (2020 : $796,080).

 
 
 
SINGAPORE TYLER PRINT INSTITUTE 
(A company limited by guarantee) 
 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
March 31, 2021 
 
 
 

10 
 
 
 

1 GENERAL 
 
The Institute (Registration No. 200008878C) is incorporated in Singapore as a company limited by 
guarantee under the Singapore Companies Act, Chapter 50 with its principal place of business at  
41 Robertson Quay, Singapore 238236 and registered office at 80 Raffles Place, #32-01 UOB Plaza 1, 
Singapore 048624. It is also subject to the provisions of the Singapore Charities Act, Chapter 37. 
 
Each member of the Institute undertakes to contribute such amounts not exceeding $1 to the assets 
of the Institute in the event that the Institute is wound up and the monies are required for payment 
of the liabilities of the Institute. The Institute has three members at the end of the reporting period. 
 
The principal activities of the Institute are to promote interest and appreciation of art in Singapore, 
and the study and research into the art of printmaking and its history, techniques, skills and processes. 
 
Previously, the Institute received operating grants from the Ministry of Information, Communication 
and the Arts (“MICA”) through the National Arts Council (“NAC”) who is required by MICA to assist in 
managing the funding requirements of the Institute. As such, any unutilised funds as at the end of  
the financial year are recorded in the books of NAC. Since April 1, 2002, MICA had funded through 
NAC actual operating deficits of the workshop and the general administration components.  
On November 1, 2012, the Institute’s parent Ministry was changed from MICA to the Ministry of 
Culture, Community and Youth (“MCCY”). 
 
As requested by MICA previously, National Heritage Board (“NHB”) took over the premises at  
41 Robertson Quay, Singapore 238236, being the principal place of business for the Institute, 
from the Singapore Land Authority through a tenancy agreement. Upon completion of renovation 
works funded by MICA, NHB previously rented out the premises to the Institute through a sub-lease 
agreement at a nominal rate of $1 per annum. The renovation costs of these premises were capitalised 
in the financial statements of NHB. 
 
In 2015, the MCCY took over the premises at 41 Robertson Quay, Singapore 238236 and rented out 
the premises to the Institute through a tenancy agreement. 
 
The financial statements of the Institute for the year ended March 31, 2021 were authorised for issue 
by the Board of Directors on August 4, 2021. 
 
 

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
BASIS OF ACCOUNTING - The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the 
historical cost basis, except as disclosed in the accounting policies below, and are drawn up in 
accordance with the provisions of the Singapore Companies Act, Singapore Charities Act, Cap. 37 and 
Financial Reporting Standards in Singapore (“FRSs”). 
 
Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods 
and services. 
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SINGAPORE TYLER PRINT INSTITUTE
(A company limited by guarantee)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
March 31, 2021

11

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price
is directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of
an asset or a liability, the Institute takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability which
market participants would take into account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement
date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these financial statements is
determined on such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions that are within the scope
of FRS 102 Share-based Payment, leasing transactions that are within the scope of FRS 17 Leases,
and measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net
realisable value in FRS 2 Inventories or value in use in FRS 36 Impairment of Assets.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2
or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the
significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

· Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
that the entity can access at the measurement date;

· Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable
for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

· Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED STANDARDS - On April 1, 2020, the Institute has adopted all the
new and revised FRSs and Interpretations of FRS (“INT FRS”) that are relevant to tis operations.
The adoption of these new/revised FRSs and INT FRSs does not result in changes to the Institute’s
accounting policies and has no material effect on the amounts reported for the current or prior years
except as disclosed below.

As at the date of authorization of these financial statements, the following FRSs, INT FRSs and
amendments to FRS that are relevant to Institute were issued but not yet effective:

• Annual Improvements to FRSs 2018-2020 (1)

• Amendments to FRS 1: Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current (2)

(1) Applies to annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2022.
(2) Applies to annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023.

Management anticipates that the adoption of the new or revised FRSs, INT FRSs and amendments to
FRS in future periods will not have a material impact on the financial statements of the Institute in the
period of their initial adoption.

SINGAPORE TYLER PRINT INSTITUTE
(A company limited by guarantee)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
March 31, 2021

12

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the statement
of financial position when the Institute becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities are added to or deducted
from the fair value of the financial assets and financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.

Classification of financial assets

Debt instruments that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured at amortised cost:

• the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in
order to collect contractual cash flows; and

• the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Amortised cost and effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument and
of allocating interest income over the relevant period.

For financial instruments other than purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets, the effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all fees and
points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) excluding expected credit losses, through the expected life of the debt
instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the gross carrying amount of the debt instrument
on initial recognition. For purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets, a credit-adjusted
effective interest rate is calculated by discounting the estimated future cash flows, including expected
credit losses, to the amortised cost of the debt instrument on initial recognition.

The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount at which the financial asset is measured at initial
recognition minus the principal repayments, plus the cumulative amortisation using the effective
interest method of any difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount, adjusted for
any loss allowance. On the other hand, the gross carrying amount of a financial asset is the amortised
cost of a financial asset before adjusting for any loss allowance.

Interest is recognised using the effective interest method for debt instruments measured subsequently
at amortised cost, except for short-term balances when the effect of discounting is immaterial.

Impairment of financial assets

The Institute recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses (“ECL”) on trade and other
receivables and contract assets. The amount of expected credit losses is updated at each reporting
date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition of the respective financial instrument.

The Institute always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables and contract assets. The expected
credit losses on these financial assets are estimated using a provision matrix based on the Institute’s
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions and an assessment of both the current as well as the forecast direction of conditions at the
reporting date, including time value of money where appropriate.
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For all other financial instruments, the Institute recognises lifetime ECL when there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. If, on the other hand, the credit risk on the
financial instrument has not increased significantly since initial recognition, the Institute measures the
loss allowance for that financial instrument at an amount equal to 12-month ECL. The assessment of
whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of
a default occurring since initial recognition instead of on evidence of a financial asset being
credit-impaired at the reporting date or an actual default occurring.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Institute compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition. In making this assessment, the Institute considers historical loss rates for each category
of customers and adjusts to reflect current and forward-looking macroeconomic factors affecting the
ability of the customers to settle the receivables.

The Institute presumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the Institute has
reasonable and supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

The Institute assumes that the credit risk on a financial instrument has not increased significantly
since initial recognition if the financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the reporting
date. A financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk if (i) the financial instrument has a
low risk of default, (ii) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations
in the near term and (iii) adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the longer term
may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow
obligations.

The Institute regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify whether there has
been a significant increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria
are capable of identifying significant increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

The Institute considers that default has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days past due
unless the Institute has reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate that a more lagging
default criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
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Write-off policy

The Institute writes off a financial asset when there is information indicating that the counterparty is
in severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the counterparty
has been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of trade
receivables, when the amounts are over two years past due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets
written off may still be subject to enforcement activities under the Institute’s recovery procedures,
taking into account legal advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses

For financial assets, the expected credit loss is estimated as the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Institute in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the
Institute expects to receive, discounted at the original effective interest rate.

If the Institute has measured the loss allowance for a financial instrument at an amount equal to
lifetime ECL in the previous reporting period, but determines at the current reporting date that the
conditions for lifetime ECL are no longer met, the Institute measures the loss allowance at an amount
equal to 12-month ECL at the current reporting date.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Institute derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from
the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the asset to another party. If the Institute neither transfers nor retains substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Institute
recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay.
If the Institute retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial
asset, the Institute continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collateralized
borrowing for the proceeds received.

Financial liabilities

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially measured at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest method, except for short-term balances when the effect of discounting
is immaterial.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Institute derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Institute’s obligations are
discharged, cancelled or they expire.
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PLANT AND EQUIPMENT - Plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
any accumulated impairment losses.

Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost of assets over their estimated useful lives using the
straight-line method, on the following bases:

Computers - 33.33%
Office and printing equipment - 12.5% to 16.67%
Furniture and fittings - 12.5%
Renovation - 33.33%

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at each year end,
with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of plant and equipment is determined
as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amounts of the asset and is recognised
in income or loss.

Fully depreciated assets still in use are retained in the financial statements.

IMPAIRMENT OF TANGIBLE ASSETS - At the end of each reporting period, the Institute reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset
is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where it is not possible
to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Institute estimates the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

PROVISIONS - Provisions are recognised when the Institute has a present obligation (legal or constructive)
as a result of a past event, and it is probable that the Institute will be required to settle that obligation
and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the
present obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle
the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows.
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Leases

The Institute as lessee

The Institute assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease, at inception of the contract.
The Institute recognises a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability with respect to all
lease arrangements in which it is the lessee, except for short-term leases (defined as leases with a
lease term of 12 months or less) and leases of low value assets. For these leases, the Institute
recognises the lease payments as an operating expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the
lease unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic
benefits from the leased assets are consumed.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at
the commencement date, discounted by using the rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be
readily determined, the Institute uses the incremental borrowing rate specific to the lessee.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise:

· fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives;

· variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or
rate at the commencement date;

· the amount expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees;

· the exercise price of purchase options, if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the options;
and

· payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the exercise of an
option to terminate the lease.

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the statement of financial position.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on
the lease liability (using the effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect
the lease payments made.
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The Institute remeasures the lease liability (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related
right-of-use asset) whenever:

· the lease term has changed or there is a significant event or change in circumstances resulting
in a change in the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case the lease liability
is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate; or

· the lease payments change due to changes in an index or rate or a change in expected payment
under a guaranteed residual value, in which cases the lease liability is remeasured by discounting
the revised lease payments using the initial discount rate (unless the lease payments change is
due to a change in a floating interest rate, in which case a revised discount rate is used); or

· a lease contract is modified and the lease modification is not accounted for as a separate lease,
in which case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using
a revised discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the corresponding lease liability,
lease payments made at or before the commencement day, less any lease incentives received and
any initial direct costs. They are subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses.

Whenever the Institute incurs an obligation for costs to dismantle and remove a leased asset,
restore the site on which it is located or restore the underlying asset to the condition required by the
terms and conditions of the lease, a provision is recognised and measured under FRS 37. To the extent
that the costs relate to a right-of-use asset, the costs are included in the related right-of-use asset,
unless those costs are incurred to produce inventories.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and useful life of the
underlying asset. If a lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset or the cost of the right-of-use
asset reflects that the Institute expects to exercise a purchase option, the related right-of-use asset
is depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset. The depreciation starts at the commencement
date of the lease.

The right-of-use assets are presented as a separate line in the statement of financial position.

The Institute applies FRS 36 to determine whether a right-of-use asset is impaired and accounts for
any identified impairment loss.

Variable rents that do not depend on an index or rate are not included in the measurement of the
lease liability and the right-of-use asset. The related payments are recognised as an expense in the
period in which the event or condition that triggers those payments occurs and are included in the line
‘Other operating expenses’ in the statement of profit or loss.

As a practical expedient, FRS 116 permits a lessee not to separate non-lease components, and instead
account for any lease and associated non-lease components as a single arrangement. The Institute
has not used this practical expedient. For a contracts that contain a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Institute allocates the consideration in the contract to
each lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the
aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.
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The lease of office premise under operating lease agreements amounts to $778,960 (2019 : $796,080).
As the lease is fully covered under rental subvention by MCCY, no consideration is made by STPI in
respect of the lease. Accordingly, no lease liability is recognised as at April 1, 2020.

The Institute as lessor

The Institute enters into lease agreements as a lessor with respect to sub-letting part of its existing
premises for the operation of an independent restaurant and gallery space to third parties for
exhibitions and functions.

Leases for which the Institute is a lessor are classified as finance or operating leases. Whenever the
terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee, the
contract is classified as a finance lease. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant
lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

GRANTS - Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that the Institute
will comply with the conditions attaching to them and the grants will be received. Government grants
whose primary condition is that the Institute should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire
non-current assets are recognised as deferred capital grants in the statement of financial position and
transferred to income or expenditure on a systematic and rational basis over the useful lives of the
related assets.

Other grants are recognised as income over the periods necessary to match them with the costs for
which they are intended to compensate, on a systematic basis. Grants that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate financial
support to the institute with no future related costs are recognised in income or expenditure in the
period in which they become receivable.

REVENUE RECOGNITION - Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a contract
with a customer and excludes amounts collected on behalf of third parties. The Institute recognises
revenue when it transfers control of a product or service to a customer.

Sale of goods

Revenue is recognised at the point in time when control of the artworks is transferred to the customer.
The Institute considers whether there are other promises in the contract that are separate performance
obligations to which a portion of the transaction price needs to be allocated.

Rendering of services

Revenue for services rendered over a short duration are recognised when the services are completed.

Contributions and donations

Contributions and donations are recognised as income when received from donors and sponsors in the
financial year.
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Interest income

Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective
interest rate applicable.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT COSTS - Payments made to state-managed retirement benefit schemes,
such as the Singapore Central Provident Fund, are dealt with as payments to defined contribution
plans and are charged as an expense as they fall due.

EMPLOYEE LEAVE ENTITLEMENT - Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they
accrue to employees. A provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of
services rendered by employees up to the end of the reporting period.

FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSACTIONS - The financial statements of the Institute are measured and
presented in Singapore dollars which is the currency of the primary economic environment in which
the Institute operates (its functional currency).

Transactions in currencies other than the Institute’s functional currency are recorded at the rate of
exchange prevailing on the date of the transaction. At end of the reporting period, monetary items
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the end of the reporting
period. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated. All exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss.

3 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Institute’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 2, management is
required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions
are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results
may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that
period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

Critical judgements in applying the Institute’s accounting policies

Management is of the opinion that any instances of application of judgement are not expected to have
a significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements.
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Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the
end of each reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing material adjustments to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed below:

(a) Impairment of plant and equipment

At the end of each reporting period, management assesses the carrying amount of the Institute’s
plant and equipment to determine whether there are any indications of impairment for which an
allowance is required. Management has concluded that there is no indication of impairment.
The carrying amount of the Institute’s plant and equipment is disclosed in Note 7.

(b) Accounting for grants

Deferred capital grants

Management has accounted for the government grants used for the purchase of depreciable
assets to the “Deferred capital grants account” upon the utilisation of the grants for purchase of
assets, which are capitalised, or to profit or loss for purchase of assets which are written off in
the year of purchase. Deferred capital grants are recognised in profit or loss over the periods
necessary to match the depreciation, write off and/or impairment loss of the assets purchased
with the related grants. Upon the disposal of plant and equipment, the balance of the related
deferred capital grants is recognised in profit or loss to match the carrying amount of the plant
and equipment written off.

Deferred expenditure grants

Grants to meet the current year’s operating expenses are recognised as income in the same
year. Management has accounted grants on an accrual basis.

4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

(a) Categories of financial instruments

The following table sets out the financial instruments as at the end of the reporting period:

2021 2020
$ $

Financial assets

Amortised cost 14,747,255 13,521,144

Financial liabilities

Amortised cost 2,021,993 1,394,837
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(b) Financial risk management policies and objectives

Management of the Institute monitors and manages the financial risks relating to the operations
of the Institute to ensure appropriate measures are implemented in a timely and effective
manner. These risks include market risk (including currency risk and interest rate risk),
credit risk and liquidity risk. There has been no change to the Institute’s exposure to these
financial risks or the manner in which it measures and manages the risks. The risks associated
with these financial instruments and the policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below.

i) Foreign exchange risk

The Institute has limited exposure to foreign currency exchange risk as its operations are
mainly transacted in Singapore dollars.

No sensitivity analysis is prepared as the Institute does not expect any material effect on
the Institute’s income or expenditure arising from the effects of reasonably possible changes
to foreign exchange rates on financial instruments at the end of the reporting period.

ii) Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk refers to the risk faced by the Institute as a result of fluctuation in interest
rates. The Institute is not exposed to interest rate risks as the Institute’s interest-bearing
financial asset only comprise of cash and bank balances which are subjected to insignificant
risk of changes in value as they are short-term in nature. The Institute does not have any
interest-bearing financial liabilities.

No sensitivity analysis is prepared as the Institute does not expect any material effect on
the Institute’s income or expenditure arising from the effects of reasonably possible charges
to interest rates on interest bearing financial instruments at the end of the reporting period.

iii) Credit risk

The Institute develops and maintains its credit risk gradings to categorise exposures
according to their degree of risk of default. The Institute uses its own trading records to
rate its major customers and other debtors.
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The Institute’s current credit risk grading framework comprises the following categories:

Category Description Basis for
recognising
expected credit
losses (ECL)

Performing The counterparty has a low risk of default
and does not have any past-due
amounts.

12-month ECL

Doubtful Amount is > 30 days past due or there
has been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL -
not credit-impaired

In default Amount is > 30 days past due or there is
evidence indicating the asset is
credit-impaired.

Lifetime ECL -
credit-impaired

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the
debtor is in severe financial difficulty and
the Institute has no realistic prospect of
recovery.

Amount is written off

The Institute has no significant concentrations of credit risk except for amount due from
MCCY. The Institute has policies in place to ensure that sale of artworks are made to
customers with appropriate credit history. Management regularly monitors the recoverability
of receivables and ensures that irrecoverable debts are adequately provided for.

The carrying amount of the financial assets presented in the statement of financial position
represents the Institute’s maximum exposure to credit risks.

iv) Liquidity risk

The Institute has minimal exposure to liquidity risk as its operations are mainly funded by
government grants, donations and sale of artworks.

All financial assets and financial liabilities in 2021 and 2020 are either repayable on
demand or due within 1 year from the end of the reporting period.

v) Fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities

The carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities reported in the statement
of financial position approximate their respective fair values due to the relatively
short-term maturity of these financial instruments.
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(c) Capital management policies and objectives

The Institute reviews its capital structure at least annually to ensure that the Institute will be able
to continue as a going concern. The capital structure of the Institute comprises accumulated surplus
and grants from government. The Institute’s overall strategy remains unchanged from 2020.

5 OTHER RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Some of the Institute’s transactions and arrangements are with a related party and the effect of these
on the basis determined between the parties is reflected in these financial statements.

During the year, the Institute entered into the following transactions with a related party:

2021 2020
$ $

With a related party:

Sale of artwork 14,350 43,675

Compensation of directors and key management personnel

The remuneration of key management personnel during the year are as follows:

2021 2020
$ $

Short-term benefits 302,074 304,768
Post-employment benefits 17,340 17,340

319,414 322,108

There were no remuneration paid to directors of the Institute during the year.

6 TECHNOLOGY AND DEVELOPMENT FUND

The Technology and Development Fund was set up for the purpose of helping the Institute to achieve
continued excellence in its printing techniques and technology.
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7 PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Office and
printing Furniture

Renovation Computers equipment and fittings Total
$ $ $ $ $

Cost:
   At April 1, 2019 252,641 365,519 7,484,360 2,112,983 10,215,503
   Additions - 39,949 173,202 - 213,151
   Disposal - (1,278) (32,943) - (34,221)
   At March 31, 2020 252,641 404,190 7,624,619 2,112,983 10,394,433
   Additions - 21,747 83,474 - 105,221
   At March 31, 2021 252,641 425,937 7,708,093 2,112,983 10,499,654

Accumulated
   depreciation:
   At April 1, 2019 218,762 345,900 7,330,721 1,413,190 9,308,573
   Depreciation 33,879 21,487 52,989 243,479 351,834
   Disposal - (497) (32,943) - (33,440)
   At March 31, 2020 252,641 366,890 7,350,767 1,656,669 9,626,967
   Depreciation - 24,150 57,611 243,363 325,124
   At March 31, 2021 252,641 391,040 7,408,378 1,900,032 9,952,091

Carrying amount:
   At March 31, 2021 - 34,897 299,715 212,951 547,563

   At March 31, 2020 - 37,300 273,852 456,314 767,466

8 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
2021 2020

$ $

Cash at bank 6,640,766 7,252,917
Fixed deposits 7,655,331 5,564,856
Cash on hand 2,618 3,008

14,298,715 12,820,781

Fixed deposits bear interest at an average rate of 1.10% (2020 : 1.76%) per annum and are due
within 1 to 11 months (2020 : 1 to 11 months) from the end of reporting period. The fixed deposits
can be converted into cash at short notice and with no or minimal charges.

Cash and cash equivalents are denominated in the functional currency of the Institute.
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9 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
2021 2020

$ $

Trade receivables (Note 10) 312,952 361,195
Other receivables 10,377 3,222
Amount due from MCCY - 108,007
Grant receivable 64,284 136,276
Interest receivables 27,036 55,913
Deposit 33,891 35,750
Prepayments 45,011 101,742
GST receivable 15,609 23,693

509,160 825,798

Loss allowance for trade receivables has been measured at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit
losses (ECL). The ECL on trade receivables are estimated using a provision matrix by reference to past
default experience of the debtor and an analysis of the debtor’s current financial position, adjusted for
factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions of the industry in which the
debtors operate. The Institute has recognised a loss allowance of 100% against all receivables over
120 days past due because historical experience has indicated that these receivables are generally not
recoverable.

There has been no change in the estimation techniques or significant assumptions made during the
current reporting period.

A trade receivable is written off when there is information indicating that the debtor is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery.
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10 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
2021 2020

$ $

Trade payables to outside parties 699,242 266,835
Upfront payment from customers 123,133 121,731
Refundable deposits 59,570 43,656
Accruals 1,011,369 1,010,921
Others(a) 251,812 73,425

2,145,126 1,516,568

The credit period is 30 to 60 days (2020 : 30 to 60 days). No interest is charged on overdue balances.
The balances are denominated in the functional currency of the Institute.

(a) Included in trade and other payables is expenditure grant of $178,529 repayable to NAC as at
March 31, 2021.  The Institute received expenditure grant amounting to $1,014,819 from NAC to
organise the SEA FOCUS event held during the year. In organising the SEA FOCUS event, the
Institute incurred operating expenses amounting to $836,290 (Note 14), and a corresponding
grant income of $836,290 (Note 16) was recognised in the same period. Additionally, the Institute
would recognise a project management fee of $200,000 (Note 12) over the event period
for organising the SEA FOCUS event which remains as a receivable from NAC (Note 9) as at
March 31, 2021.

11 DEFERRED GRANTS
2021 2020

$ $

Beginning of year 2,820,309 2,577,737
Grants received during the year:
   Grants from government 320,359 136,276
   Expenditure grant 444,672 693,525
Repayment during the year:

Expenditure grant (210,302) -
Amortisation for the year:
   Deferred capital grant (264,039) (281,651)
   Grants from government (192,227) (183,594)
   Other grant (60,326) (121,984)
End of year 2,858,446 2,820,309
Less: Current portion (832,999) (737,328)
Non-current portion 2,025,447 2,082,981
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12 INCOME
2021 2020

$ $
Type of revenue

Sale of artworks 1,632,379 2,977,257
Contributions and donations 289,047 730,705
Consignment income 96,714 225,452
Others (Note 10) 387,250 794,429

2,405,390 4,727,843

Other operating income*
Rental income 123,424 357,104
Interest income 61,597 96,479

2,590,411 5,181,426

* Noted that these streams of revenue do not fall under the scope of FRS 115 Revenue of Contracts
with Customers.

Timing of revenue recognition:
2021 2020

$ $

At a point in time:
Sale of artworks 1,632,379 2,977,257
Contributions and donations 289,047 730,705
Consignment income 96,714 225,452
Others 187,250 594,429

2,205,390 4,527,843
Over time:
Project management fee (Note 10) 200,000 200,000

2,405,390 4,727,843

The total tax-deductible donations received for the year ended March 31, 2021 amounted to $196,822
(2020 : $488,580).

There are $123,133 (2020 : $121,731) unsatisfied performance obligation as at the end of the reporting
period.
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13 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE
2021 2020

$ $
Costs of defined contribution plans included
   in employee benefits expense 302,729 340,999

14 OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

The major components include the following:
2021 2020

$ $

Deemed rental expenses 778,960 796,080
Art fairs and exhibition expenses 1,522,883 2,780,399
Supplies and materials 583,703 885,029

Included in the art fairs and exhibition expenses are $836,290 (Note 10) incurred for the SEA FOCUS
event.

15 INCOME TAX

The Institute has been granted tax exempt status as a charitable institution under Section 13(1)(zm)
of the Singapore Income Tax Act, Cap. 134.

16 GRANTS FROM GOVERNMENT

This represents operating grants received from the MCCY since November 1, 2011 to fund the
operation of the Institute. The operating grants were released to the NAC which disbursed the funds
to the Institute.

17 SURPLUS FOR THE YEAR

Surplus for the year has been arrived at after charging:
2021 2020

$ $

Cost of consigned and referral/artist’s artwork 467,291 445,316
Deemed rental expense 778,960 796,080
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18 OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

The Institute as lessee

At March 31, 2021, the Institute is committed to $11,040 (2020 : $17,520) for short term leases.

As mentioned in Note 1, the Institute currently rents its existing premises from MCCY through a
sub-lease agreement for the period from August 1, 2020 to July 31, 2023.

Management has adopted the Annual Value of the property determined by Inland Revenue Authority
of Singapore as the market value of rental of premises at the end of the reporting period. Changes in
the economic conditions of the property market in Singapore could impact the future fair values of the
premises and as a result, the rental of premises could be revised. As at March 31, 2021, management
is of the opinion that rental of premises recorded in income or expenditure approximates its market
value. Accordingly, an amount of $778,960 (2020 : $796,080) has been recognised as deemed rental
expense and deemed grant income.

The Institute as lessor

Operating leases, in which the Institute is the lessor, relate to the sub-letting of its existing premises
for the operation of an independent restaurant and gallery space to third party for exhibitions and
functions with lease terms of less than 1 year. The lessee does not have an option to purchase the
premises at the expiry of the lease period.

Maturity analysis of operating lease payments:
2021 2020

$ $

Year 1 204,000 54,400
Year 2 204,000 -
Year 3 42,500 -
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19 SURPLUS TRANSFER

Institute’s accumulated surplus comprises General fund (“GF”) and Technology and Development fund
(“TDF”).

Surplus reserve is part of the Institute’s income funds that is freely available for its operating purposes.
Over time, there could be cumulative surplus reserves being built up when grant and operating
revenues exceed the Institute’s annual expenditure. The purpose of the cumulative surplus is to ensure
adequate reserve for long-term financial sustainability and to meet unexpected funding needs.

Funds are placed in short-term bank deposits with financial institutions which have good credit rating.
The accumulated surplus together with the interest income generated can be drawn upon for operating
purposes such as to fund any deficit or the Board can designate funds to be used for non-operating
purposes.

The Board of Directors agreed by resolution since 2007 that all future surpluses shall be transferred
to the GF and the TDF in the ratio of 70% and 30% respectively.

On October 31, 2017, the Board of Directors agreed by resolution effective from financial year ended
March 31, 2018, that all future surpluses shall be transferred to the GF. Any future transfer to the TDF
will be made on a discretionary basis.

20 DISRUPTIONS IN OPERATIONS: IMPACT OF COVID-19

Like many organisations across the world, the Institute has not been spared from the effects of the
COVID-19 pandemic. Management has reviewed the impact and assessed the following for the year
ended March 31, 2021:

• The going concern basis of preparation for this set of financial statements remains appropriate;

• In 2020, border closures, production disruptions and workplace closures have resulted in periods
where the Institute’s operations were temporarily suspended to adhere to the respective
governments’ movement control measures. These have impacted the number of exhibitions held
and participated in 2020, resulting in reduced sales and impacted the Institute’s financial
performance for 2020 and 2021; and

• The Institute has considered the market conditions (including the impact of COVID-19) as at the
end of the reporting period, in making estimates and judgements on the recoverability of assets
as at March 31, 2021.

The Institute will closely monitor the development of the pandemic and assess its impact on its
operations continuously. Notwithstanding this, management has assessed that the Institute is still able
to maintain sufficient liquidity to enable the Institute to continue as a going concern for at least the
next 12 months from the date of the financial statements.
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